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Figure 118 Brunswick Football Club of c1910. Source: Moreland City Libraries.

eventually obtained in the 1890s in Royal Park, which was
outside the municipality. Provision of a sporting ground
within the municipality came in 1908 with the opening

of Brunswick Park. The Coburg football team also had
problems securing an oval and was denied use of the local
cricket reserve.

Cycling also became popular in the 1890s as both a
competitive sport and social pastime. The membership

of Methodist Sydney Road Bicycle Club in the 1890s
included both men and women. Brunswick’s locally made
bicycles included the well-known Hillman, White Star and
Flyer brands, and their makers were invariably champion
cyclists as well. Hillman Cycles continue to operate from
Grantham Street and have traded from shops in the Union
Street vicinity for many decades.

Harmonic groups, brass bands, rifle, horticultural,
tennis, croquet and bowling clubs and many more small
associations were formed throughout the municipality,
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many lacking the standard of facilities enjoyed by clubs

in more affluent suburbs. Despite this, Brunswick tennis
players Ashley Cooper and Frank Sedgmen went on to win
Australian, American and Wimbledon titles. Some sporting
and recreation clubs, like the Brickworks football team,
were formed on the factory floor. This tradition continued
into the twentieth century, with large employers such as
the Lincoln Mills whose choir proudly performed at the
official celebrations when Coburg was elevated to City
status in 1922. Photographs held by the Coburg Historical
Society record the Lincoln Mills ‘iron pipe’ hockey team of
the late 1920s and the Prestige Mills women’s basketball
team of 1935.

Rifle clubs have a long history and probably descended
from volunteer defence corps. A local Pentridge Corps
operated between 1859 and the 1870s and rifle clubs
followed in 1900 in Brunswick and Coburg. By 1914
the Brunswick club had its premises on the site of the
swimming pool in Dawson Street and today it continues
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Figure 119 The Coburg City Band c.1924 outside the Coburg Town Hall. Source: Moreland City Libraries and Picture Victoria.

to occupy a building in Phoenix Street at the rear of the
pool complex. The club’s survival is rare in the inner
metropolitan area. The Moreland Band, a municipal band
formed by the amalgamation of the Coburg and Brunswick
bands, occupies another part of the red brick building. It is
the only community brass band within the City of Moreland
and retains a membership of about thirty men and women.

Trugo Rinks

Trugo is a game invented by workers at the Newport
railway workshops in about 1925. It is played with

wooden mallets and rubber rings on either a hard rink

or lawn surface rink, and is similar to croquet and bowls.
The unique game developed a small network of teams
throughout Melbourne’s working suburbs, with Brunswick
and Coburg included from the 1960s. The Brunswick team
based itself at clubrooms and a rink in Temple Park, off
Gold Street and new brick premises were built in 1967
and extended in 1975. The Coburg club, which occupied a
former tennis pavilion and court in Harding Street, became
defunct in ¢.2000. An ltalian pensioners club now occupies

the ¢.1929 tennis pavilion and the former tennis court and
trugo rink area has been transformed into a garden. Trugo
membership in most of the suburban clubs is dwindling.

Swimming Pools

Brunswick’s first purpose-built baths opened in November
1886 at the rear of the Brunswick Mechanics Institute. By
February the Institute was able to report that ‘the baths
have proved a great boon to the district, forty boys having
learned the art of swimming in them during this season’.45?
The baths were an ambitious undertaking that few if any
other institutes had ventured into.#%® The initiative parallels
the rise of recreational swimming during this period, and
sadly this was overshadowed by a rise in drownings.
Brunswick was pitted with enormous clay holes dug by
pottery and brickmaking companies, and boys were using
them as ‘swimming holes’. This prompted the Institute

to build a pool principally for teaching swimming to local

452  Brunswick and Coburg Medium, 19 February 1887.
453 Pam Baragwanath, a historian of Mechanics Institutes, knows of no other
Institute providing baths. Email of 27 April 2007.
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Figure 120 Tennis pavilion in Harding Street, Coburg. The building was
occupied by the Coburg Trugo Club until ¢.2000.Photograph by
C Wilmsen, February 2010. Source: Moreland City Council.

youths. Unfortunately their program ceased in 1893

with the closure of the baths due to the economic
depression. In 1913 the Brunswick Council announced

a proposal to build new municipal baths. They opened
on the current Dawson Street site in 1914 with a series
of swimming carnivals. Swimming lessons continued,
and by 1915 some groups including the Brunswick
scouts were receiving free evening instruction.*** Women
increasingly used the baths, and by the late 1920s it
was apparent that the facilities needed altering to take
this shift into consideration. In 1928 major additions and
alterations were undertaken to the design of architects
Peck & Kemter in association with City Engineer Dave
Bonar. They included a new, indoor heated pool for women
and spectator gallery, alterations to the outdoor pool and
diving tower for men, a gymnasium for men, committee
rooms, showers and other innovations such as the pools’
filtration and purification system, all behind an imposing
yet restrained two-storey classical fagade that incorporated
separate entries for males and females. Opened in

1929, they were praised as ‘the best inland Baths in the
Southern Hemisphere’.#%®

The baths enjoyed high status as a venue for Victorian
championships and played a central role in the State’s
‘Learn to Swim Campaign’, which had started in 1929.
Their prominent location in the heart of Brunswick’s civic
precinct made them very accessible to other popular
venues such as the Dance Hall across the road (since
converted to the Brunswick Municipal Library), the

454 BCC Public Works Committee Minutes, 29 March 1915
455 Brunswick and Coburg Gazette, 1 November 1929.

122

Mechanics Institute and town hall, with the tram and
train nearby. In 1992 the baths became the focus of
media attention when various women’s groups made
requests for women-only swimming sessions on Friday
afternoons and evenings. Local male residents objected
to the Council’s proposal to allow the sessions on the
grounds of discrimination and won their case after it was
heard by the Equal Opportunity Board. The issue received
intense media coverage and protest erupted in the wider
community. An exemption to the ruling was subsequently
granted in 2003. The case confirmed the continuing
importance of the baths to the local community and
highlighted its changing needs (see citation for 10
Dawson Street, Brunswick).

Parks in Coburg

Coburg’s Lake Reserve became another popular
swimming venue after Coburg Council purchased land
along the Merri Creek and constructed a weir to form a
lake, adding diving boards, a kiosk and gardens. Two
concrete wading pools were added in 1928 and a model
boat club also had a pool. The lake became ‘one of the
most popular summer spots of inner Melbourne’ during the
early 1930s.4% Mounting concerns about the quality of the
lake water led to the construction of a concrete, filtered
swimming pool in Rogers Reserve, Cumberland Road.
Former swimming champion, Frank Beaurepaire, who was
then Lord Mayor of Melbourne, opened the pool in 1941.
Another municipal pool, the Coburg Olympic Swimming
Pool, opened in Murray Road in 1965 and survives today
‘in more or less intact condition’.*%” A year later the Oak
Park Aquatic Centre opened on Pascoe Vale Road,
featuring a kidney-shaped toddlers’ pool and fountain.*%®

Coburg Lake was restored and beautified in the 1970s,
following a successful campaign to save it by the Pascoe
Vale Naturalists’ Club. The history of the lake’s surrounding
parkland dates to about 1905 when the Coburg Leader
and the Pascoe Vale Progress Association began a
campaign for recreational land that eventuated in the
purchase of the late Monsignor O’Hea’s estate north-east
of HM Prison Pentridge in 1912 as well as an additional
paddock and three acres from the prison willow plantation
to form the twenty-five-acre reserve on the Merri Creek.

In the same year, the Council also purchased Henderson’s
Paddock, comprising sixteen and a half acres on Bell
Street. Two acres were allocated for the state’s first Higher
Elementary School (Coburg High) and the rest developed
as an oval and gardens, forming an ideal setting adjacent
to the civic precinct. A grandstand, designed by local
architect Charles Heath, was built in 1925 on the oval.

456 Broome, p. 250.

457 Heritage Alliance, Survey of Post-War Built Heritage in Victoria: Stage One.
Vol.2, prepared for Heritage Victoria, October 2008,p. 91.

458 Heritage Alliance, Survey of Post-War Built Heritage in Victoria: Stage One.
Vol.2, p. 92.



Figure 121 Coburg Lake ¢.1930. Source: Moreland City Libraries and
Picture Victoria.

The grounds, which are now known as Bridges Reserve
(see citation for Bridges Reserve), also feature the Rogers
Memorial Fountain dedicated to the memory of Harry
Rogers, who apart from being a councillor and member

of local sporting committees was chairman of the Council’s
Parks and Gardens Committee and an advocate for public
parklands.*®® The unusual art deco-style fountain was
erected in 1935. Despite increasing its parkland from five
to fifty-four acres, Coburg ‘was still ranked in the bottom
third of Melbourne’s suburbs’ for recreational space.*%°
Further parkland was set aside in the 1920s, and the
number of reserves also increased in the north of the
municipality as farms were replaced by urban settlement.

Parks in Brunswick

Brunswick was similarly deficient in parkland, and like
Coburg, no provision for open space was made until

the early years of the twentieth century, when residents
initiated campaigns. Agitation for Brunswick’s first park
commenced in 1905 and resulted in the Brunswick Park
and Oval of thirteen acres on Victoria Street opening in
October 1907 as part of Brunswick’s jubilee celebrations.
Cricket, football, bowls and croquet were soon
accommodated, gardens were established along walks
and borders and a band rotunda built in 1923. Warr Park
was initiated at the same time but the land in de Carle
Street was not officially transferred to Brunswick Council
until 1912. This smaller park behind Sydney Road was laid
out with lawn, elm trees and garden beds and included

a playground by 1911. It was popular for Salvation Army
meetings and the Brunswick Band used its rotunda
(demolished in the 1970s) for recitals. Originally known
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Figure 122 Brunswick Park opened in October 1907. The gardens and

lawns provided a welcome contrast to the surrounding brickyards and
clay holes. Source: Moreland City Libraries.

as North Park, it was renamed Warr Park in 1940 after
Councillor Ben Warr, who served between 1926 and 1940.

Fleming, Methven and Temple Parks occupy former quarry
holes and were laid out between 1911 and the 1920s,
with the council surveyor, Mr Smith, guiding most of the
work. Named after Councillor John Fleming, Fleming
Park, between Albert and Victoria Streets, was formerly

a stone quarry and was the first Brunswick park opened
on a quarry. It once included tennis courts, band rotunda
and conservatory and today continues its association with
Fleming Park Hall and the Brunswick Council Nursery.*5'
Methven Park, named after quarryman and councillor,
David Methven, also once featured a band rotunda and
today retains many fine elm trees and much of its original
layout. Temple Park was created on a former clay pit

and it too features elm avenues and paths. Its former
band rotunda was converted into a ‘Pioneers’ Social

Club’ in 1947 and the building became the headquarters
for Brunswick’s Trugo Club. Gilpin Park in Albert Street
occupies the site of a gigantic clay pit dug by the Hoffman
Brickworks and was still an astonishing feature in the
1960s. The pit was gradually filled with rubbish and the
site eventually planted with native species, the informal
layout reflecting more recent approaches in park design.
The distinctive Jacobs Reserve in Melville Road was
developed from land purchased from Miss Flora Melville
in 1936 and the Irvine estate in 1940 (see citation for 180
Melville Road, Brunswick West). The Melvilles were well
known locally, particularly the politician and wool and grain
broker, Donald Melville, who owned a large bluestone
warehouse by the railway line (see citation for 1-7 and

459 Rogers Reserve, Cumberland Road, Pascoe Vale, also perpetuates the name
of Harry Rogers.
460 Broome, p. 183.

461 Brunswick Community History Group, Brunswick Green: Historic Parks in
Moreland, prepared for the Brunswick Heritage Festival 2005 and Moreland
City Council, 2005, unpaginated.
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9-17 Colebrook Street, Brunswick). Jacobs Reserve
was named after Councillor Jacobs, a local advocate
for parklands, and the park’s evergreen plantings reflect
the tastes of the inter-war period when many of the
surrounding houses were built.

Dance Halls and Picture Theatres

Popular entertainment has always centred on Sydney
Road and Lygon Street, where people have gathered to
meet and socialise. Dance halls were established from the
late nineteenth century onwards, and dances, community
singing, recitals and celebratory events were often held

in existing all-purpose halls including the town halls of
Brunswick and Coburg. In 1913 the Palais de Danse,
which was similar to the St Kilda Palais, opened in Sydney
Road on the corner of Barkly Street. The new ‘pay as you
dance’ venue introduced ‘ragtime’ to local dancers, but
they stopped coming the following year when war broke
out and the venue closed.*5?

Roller-skating is another form of entertainment that

Figure 123 Methven Park, Brunswick, in 1918. Filling of the site commenced in 1906 and the gardens were laid out in 1916. The park was named after
quarryman and councillor, David Methven. Source: Moreland City Libraries.

462 Barnes, It happened in Brunswick, 1837-1987, p. 44.
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enjoyed a short burst of popularity in the boom years of
the late nineteenth century. In 1887-88 Henry Bates,

a furniture remover and general carrier, erected a two-
storey brick building containing two shops and a livery
stable on the ground level and a roller-skating rink above.
For a short time, skating rivalled cricket and football as a
leisure activity and rinks were installed all over Melbourne,
although scant evidence of this phenomenon survives
today. The craze soon disappeared and the Coburg roller-
skating hall with its large open space and hard floor later
became a billiard saloon then a physical culture school. In
1932 it became the short-lived Taj Mahal dance hall, and
murals depicting exotic Indian scenes were painted on the
walls and proscenium (see citation for 400—-404 Sydney
Road, Coburg).

Jazz culture thrived between the wars and modern dances
opened in all halls except those owned by the Methodists.
The hugely popular Monte Carlo Orchestra played jazz

at local music venues and was winner of the 1927 state
jazz band contest. Other local bands of note included
Hall's Orpheus Dance Band and the Metronome Band that



played regularly at the newly built Masonic Hall in Davies
Street (see citation for 2—6 Davies Street, Brunswick).
Other venues for dancing included the scout hall in Victoria
Street near Sydney Road, which opened in 1926 and was
succeeded as a venue a year later by the town hall; the
Broadway Dance Palace in Lygon Street, which opened

in 1930 next to the Lyndhurst Hotel and closed in 1932;
and the Modern Dance, which opened in Williams Hall

on the first floor of a building on the north corner of Sydney
Road and Ballarat Street. It was so popular with younger
dancers that it soon had to move the venue to the Lyric
Hall at the Lyric Theatre.*6?

Picture theatres enjoyed great popularity in Brunswick

and Coburg. The first was perhaps the open amphitheatre
called Pictureland that opened in 1908 next to the Retreat
Hotel on Sydney Road. A few years later it became

Neil Gow’s Open Air Theatre, and in 1912 the grand

and elaborate Empire Theatre was constructed on the

site, showing both vaudeville and moving pictures (it

was demolished after a fire in 1976). Its competitor was
Brunswick’s first purpose-built cinema, the plainly designed
Lyric Theatre of 1911, built on the corner of Michael Street.
It incorporated shops in its front facade and also included
a hall. The uncomfortable venue was known as the ‘Louso’
because of its fleas, but it still drew huge audiences until it
closed in 1930 after failing to adapt to new ‘talkie’ movies.
Cyril Bright’'s Casino Dance Palais opened in the theatre

in 1935 and operated until 1941 when the building was
taken over by the Federal Government for war purposes
(see citation for 199-201 Sydney Road, Brunswick).#¢4
Those with even fewer pennies to spend could see regular
films in the less gracious Penders Horseshoe Nail factory
behind Sydney Road in Tinning Street (later renamed the
Oxford Cinema, demolished in 1983). Billiards enjoyed

a resurgence in popularity after 1909, when Frederick
Lindrum held the title of professional Champion of
Australia. The Empire Theatre and the Lyric Theatre
opened billiard rooms in 1914, and the purpose-built Albert
Billiard Room in Albert Street followed a year later. Several
hotels also introduced their own billiard tables at this time.*5

The third purpose-built local theatre was the Alhambra at
828-830 Sydney Road, North Brunswick, which opened

in 1915. It showed films until 1961 and has since been
used for other purposes including an ice-skating rink and
car salesroom. The man behind the Alhambra venture was
Brunswick’s leading real estate agent, Thomas Crisp, who
also converted the Palais de Danse into the Palais picture
theatre.*¢6

Theatre-going boomed with the arrival of the first ‘talkies’
in the 1920s and a succession of purpose-built theatres

463 Barnes, It happened in Brunswick, 1837-1987, p. 47.
464 Barnes, It happened in Brunswick, 1837-1987, p. 43.
465 Barnes, It happened in Brunswick, 1837-1987, p. 46.
466 Barnes, It happened in Brunswick, 1837-1987, p. 46.
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Figure 124 The former Padua Theatre, Sydney Road, Brunswick.
Photographed by Lyle Fowler in 1937. Source: Harold Paynting
Collection, State Library of Victoria.

followed throughout the municipality. A.P. Howson'’s Star
Theatre (see citation for 66 Brunswick Road) ran from

the early to mid-1920s and lost out to the nearby Lygon
Theatre that opened in 1922 and ran for thirty-eight years,
and was partially demolished in 1985. The Western
Theatre at 41-43 Melville Road opened in 1929 and
closed in 1963 after which it was acquired by the Estonian
Club in 1971 and renamed Estonian House. Hoyt’s Limited
opened the ultra-modern Padua cinema theatre in Sydney
Road near Stewart Street, in May 1937. In 1969 it became
the Metropolitan Theatre, showing Italian films until 1980
and was demolished in 1982.

The first silent pictures shown in Coburg were screened
in the old Public Hall in Bell Street in 1910, and in the
Lake Hall Picture Theatre, which opened in June 1912
and closed in 1921. That year saw the Grand open at 324
Sydney Road on the corner of Sheffield Street, which was
impressively designed in a Federation Free Classical-
style similar to Brunswick’s Empire Theatre. Coburg’s

two other main picture theatres showing ‘talkies’ were the
Plaza (opened 1934 and closed along with the Grand in
1961) and the Town Hall Talkies (opened in the Coburg
Town Hall in 1930). Smaller cinemas operated in the West
Coburg, Pascoe Vale and Merlynston progress halls.

The West Coburg Progress Hall (affectionately known

to locals as the ‘fleahouse’) opened in 1923 and started
showing movies in 1927. It continued as a regular venue
until ¢.1999, when it was the last cinema operating in
Coburg. The building with its intact Moderne fagcade and
‘PROGRESS' signage still stands today (see citation for
234 Reynard Street, Coburg).
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Figure 125 The West Coburg Progress Association Theatre in Reynard
Street, Coburg. The theatre showed films from 1927 until c.1999.
Photograph by C Wilmsen March 2009. Source: Moreland City Council.

Other parts of the municipality, notably Glenroy and
Pascoe Vale, remained undeveloped rural outposts and
missed out on the suburban entertainment boom of the
1920s and 1930s. In the 1880s William McCulloch’s bull
shed in Glenroy was converted into a hall and used for
dances and balls, and it would seem little else beyond

this occurred for many decades.*” When these suburbs
eventually began to expand, popular entertainment venues
in Brunswick and Coburg were in decline.

The introduction of television in 1956 had a devastating
impact on all of Melbourne’s cinemas, including those

in Brunswick and Coburg. Some began to attract new
audiences as cinemas specialising in continental films for
Melbourne’s growing Italian and Greek population. In more
recent years many of the buildings have been demolished
or converted for new uses.

A further development in cinema entertainment in the late
1950s was the advent of drive-in movie venues, which
grew out of the growing popularity of cars. A drive-in
opened at 155 Newlands Road, Coburg North, in 1965 as
part of a chain of six drive-ins initiated in the metropolitan
area by entrepreneurs Sillman and Sharp. In 1967 it was
acquired by the Hoyts cinema company, and faced closure
and sale in the 1980s when drive-in films began to be
superseded by videos that could be watched in the home.
After temporarily closing in 1984 it was re-opened in 1987
as a twin drive-in and a third screen was installed in 1995.
It is Australia’s largest drive-in, and the heritage of the
drive-in experience is now a feature of the venue, which

467 Lemon, p. 81.
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NEWS! NEWS! NEWS!

THE BIG SIX PROUDLY ANNOUNCE
THE OPENING OF

MELBGURNE'S WEWEST AND MOST MOBERN DEIVE-EN TWEATEE

Coburg Drive-in Theatre

Newlands Road, Coburg, on Thurs., 25th November
Two Smash Hits Commencing at 745 pm.
u e A e

¥ NCIAT |

W proveeds from our opening night will
b donated to Coburg Homes for the Aged, Coburs
Helping Hands Contre for Men [y Retarded
Children, and the Coburg Branch of the Spastic
Children’s Society.

Figure 126 Advertisement for the opening of the Coburg Drive-in
Theatre, Newlands Road, on 25 November 1965. Source:
Coburg Historical Society and Picture Victoria.

retains its original ticket, box, bio box and diner, as well
as speakers and signage. It was classified by the National
Trust of Australia (Victoria) in 2007 for its historical and
social significance to the State of Victoria and is one of
only four original drive-ins operating in Victoria. The other
examples include Dandenong and Dromana.*5®

10.7 Honouring and Commemorating

Dedications and Memorials

Over the years many people have played important roles
in the development of the City of Moreland — pioneer
settlers, residents, business people, politicians, community
activists, sporting champions and heroes and heroines.
Many individuals have been commemorated in the naming
of public parks, railway stations, streets, buildings and
other structures.

In 1915 Sarah George, the last surviving child of the
‘father’ of Brunswick, Thomas Wilkinson, dedicated

a memorial drinking fountain to his memory. Some
commemorative gestures honour groups of people.
Brunswick’s Sparta Place, for instance, pays tribute

to the municipality’s Greeks of Lakonian origin and
commemorates the sister-city relationship enjoyed by
Sparta and Brunswick. Today new names continue to
honour people and local history on the signage of public
places; for example, Cocoa Jackson Lane, named in
2001, commemorates Fred James, a local boxer trainer.

468 National Trust of Australia (Victoria), Coburg Drive-In. Statement of Cultural
Heritage Significance. Available online at: http://www.nattrust.com.au/trust_
register/search_the_register/coburg_drive_in



There are names that have also disappeared. In 1973
the Storemen and Packers’ Union bought the historic
Phoenix Hotel at 133 Sydney Road, Brunswick. They
renamed it the R.J. Hawke Hotel after their trade union
leader Bob Hawke. This was well before Hawke became
the Federal Minister for Wills (the electorate covering

Moreland) and Prime Minister of Australia. When the newly

elected Labor Prime Minister Gough Whitlam ventured
out to Brunswick to officially open the renamed hotel in
May 1973, he pointed out that it was the only hotel in the

southern hemisphere owned by a trade union. Surprisingly,

the union sold the hotel during Hawke’s period as Prime
Minister, and it was renamed the Candy Shop Tavern in
the 1980s and painted pink. In 2009 it is known as the
Spot Bar and Bandroom, a name that is likely to change
again as trends wax and wane. The changes are symbolic
of the municipality’s transition from a predominantly
working-class community to one that is increasingly
culturally diverse and gentrified.

Cemeteries

The lives of local men, women and children are
commemorated at the historic Coburg Cemetery, where
burials commenced in about 1856. Their monuments
are not grand like many of those found in the Melbourne
General and Boroondara cemeteries. The oldest surviving
gravestones date from the 1860s and are found within
the Wesleyan section, demonstrating the strength of

this faith among district pioneers. The municipality’s
main occupational groups are represented — farmers,
shopkeepers, merchants, artisans, tradesmen, industrial
workers and warders, with a smaller percentage of
‘gentleman’ and larger landholders.*®® Chinese market
gardeners, who maintained gardens along the Merri
Creek, are also indicated by a small number of footstones.
The more noticeable monuments commemorate Labor
members of parliament, trade union leaders and sporting
heroes, yet it is the modest graves of ordinary, mostly
unknown people that comprise the broad part of the
cemetery. The land set aside for the cemetery was on
the eastern edge of the Pentridge Village reserve and

its frontage was originally well back from Bell Street
before it was extended. Situated on the hill on the east
side of the Merri Creek, the land is now just outside the
Moreland municipal boundary. The cemetery transferred
to the Fawkner Memorial Park Trust in 1971 and is today
known as the Pine Ridge Cemetery possibly because of
the dramatic avenue of cypress trees that distinguish its
hillside setting.

As available burial space became limited, Melbourne’s
northern suburbs began agitating for a major new
cemetery. Land had been purchased in Springvale in
1878 to provide for the anticipated needs of Melbourne’s
expanding southern suburbs and was permanently

469 Johnston, ‘Suburban Cemeteries: Coburg’, pp. 63-68.
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Figure 127 Rogers Memorial Fountain in Coburg’s Bridges Reserve. The
fountain is dedicated to former Parks and Gardens Committee Chairman
Harry Rogers.469 Unveiled in 1935, it is designed in the art deco-style
and made of synthetic freestone. Photograph by C Wilmsen May 2010.
Source: Moreland City Council.

reserved for this purpose in 1887, with the first burial
conducted in 1902. In 1899 Coburg Council initiated a
meeting of northern municipalities and eventually a Trust
was appointed to oversee the purchase of a site of 280
acres (113.3 hectares) on Sydney Road at Fawkner. The
New Melbourne General Cemetery, now called Fawkner
Memorial Park, received its first burial in December 1906.
It was conducted by undertaker, John Allison, whose
funeral business still operates today from 170 Sydney
Road, Coburg. The cemetery’s designer was architect
Charles Heath (1867—1948) whose 1906 plan for the
grounds was based on a series of major and minor axes
arranged in a fan-shape or spider web pattern. Also
included were designs for a combined residence and
office, a railway station, waiting room and toilets, and
perhaps the Hebrew Chapel and a caretaker’s residence.
The cemetery railway station was served by a siding from
the Coburg line, which could bring mourners as well a
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Figure 128 Coburg Cemetery in 1908. Source: Coburg Historical Society
and Picture Victoria.

hearse carriage right into the grounds. It continued as a
regular service from 1906 until 1939 and was gradually
phased out by 1952.

Heath’s subsequent commissions included the non-
denominational crematorium designed in 1927 in the
Greek Revival style, the Garden of Remembrance in 1931,
tearooms and flower kiosk in 1932, columbarium in 1934,
administration building in 1935, a new Jewish chapel and
a Mohammedan chapel. The tearoom pavilion still serves
its original purpose but the other buildings no longer
survive (see citation for Tearooms, 1187 Hume Highway,
Fawkner). Heath’s association with the cemetery lasted for
much of his professional career and extended to the role
of cemetery manager and secretary to the cemetery board,
a matter alluded to in the Coburg Council Minutes for
1923.47% He lived within the cemetery grounds until 1922
when he and his family moved to a house he designed in
Moreland. A fountain commemorating his work is located
in the cemetery where his plan of 1906 proposed a clock
tower.4""

Although Springvale had a single crematorium operating
between 1905 and 1926, only 176 cremations were
conducted there in that period. It was not until facilities
opened at Fawkner in 1926 that the first modern
crematorium began to service the people for Victoria. It
was around this time that Joseph Allison expanded his
funeral director business, redeveloping the site on the
corner of Sydney Road and Mitchell Street, Brunswick.
The increasing popularity of cremation led to additions
at the Fawkner Cemetery crematorium in the 1930s, and

470 Coburg Council Minutes, VPRS 011314/P/001, Unit 00022 (1923, p. 262).
471 Michael Taylor Architects and Conservation Consultants, ‘Coburg Town Hall,
Bell Street, Coburg, Conservation Management Plan’, p.13.
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Figure 129 Relocated historic memorials in the Pioneer Section of the
Fawkner Cemetery. Undated. Source: Broadmeadows
Historical Society and Picture Victoria.

two new chapels and other auxiliary services were built by
1943. Heath’s crematorium served until the late 1970s and
was replaced by the present facilities in 1980.

In 1922 the Old Pioneers section was created at Fawkner
when 220 graves dating from the late 1830s were
transferred from the Old Melbourne Cemetery, now
under part of the Queen Victoria Market. Among these
reinterments were the remains of John Batman, who died
in 1839, and many other early Melbourne identities.*"2
Seventy historically significant sandstone and slate
memorials associated with the graves were sited around
a new John Batman memorial, and the new section was
dedicated in January 1924.

War Memorials

The announcements of war in 1915 and 1939 drew
massive local support. Places associated with stirring
speeches, civic farewells and the war effort are numerous
throughout the municipality — the Coburg and Brunswick
town halls, theatres such as the Lyric, the Brunswick
Mechanics Institute, the churches, schools, factories and
Sydney Road — are where some of the many patriotic
gatherings and volunteer defence activities were held.
After the World War One, hundreds and hundreds of
memorials were erected in public places in Victoria. These
solemn monuments, honour boards, plaques and tree
plantings provided a focal point for a community to unite,
commemorate and remember the enormity of the conflict.
They often serve also to commemorate the later conflicts
of World War Two, Korea and Vietnam.

472 Melbourne General, Boroondara, St Kilda and Cheltenham cemeteries also
received a number of the exhumations, which came to a total of 914 bodies.



An often forgotten, earlier conflict that involved Australia
was the war between the British and the Boers in South
Africa between 1899 and 1902. The Australian colonies
sent troops and a total of 16,500 men, most of whom were

volunteers, fought in the conflict, with 588 losing their lives.

Of the small number of memorials subsequently erected,
one was placed in front of the Brunswick Town Hall and
was subsequently shifted to Hooper Reserve, at the
southern entrance to Brunswick. The granite monument
was unveiled on 30 May 1903 and its erection was largely
due to subscriptions raised by the Brunswick Manchester
Unity of Odd Fellows.*"®

By the end of World War One, 3,575 Brunswick men

had enlisted and 510 had died. A large honour board
was placed in the foyer of the Brunswick Town Hall and
another at the Primary School in Albert Street. In the
less populated suburb of Coburg, 700 men enlisted, as
indicated by the honour board in the Coburg Town Hall.
About 162 were killed, as suggested by the number of
cypress trees that were ceremonially planted with plaques
(none has survived) at Coburg’s Lake Reserve on 30
August 1919.47* After the war the RSL became a political
force in Coburg and sought to establish clubrooms in the
civic precinct. At the time the Council was considering

its options for a new town hall and agreed to incorporate
facilities for local ex-servicemen. Coburg’s Soldiers
Memorial Hall opened in 1922 and in 1924 the local RSL
unveiled a memorial cenotaph in front of the newly built
town hall. An avenue of trees was planted in the grounds
of the Infants Building of the Coburg Primary School

to honour past pupils who lost their lives. A plaque and
memorial garden have since replaced the trees. Other
war memorials include a monument at Rogers Reserve,
Pascoe Vale (which subsequently included WW2, Korea
and Vietnam dedications), and a granite obelisk in
Wheatsheaf Road, Glenroy erected in 1920.

Despite many more Brunswick families being touched

by the conflict, the Brunswick RSL was not as strong

as Coburg after World War One. Not all of its residents
were patriotic and many were silently anti-war, which was
made apparent when Brunswick rejected conscription in
1916-17. When formed, the Brunswick RSL met in the
upstairs room of the town hall and prior to World War Two
remained a relatively small organisation. It later moved

to its own premises in Lygon Street, East Brunswick, and
disbanded in 1992.

473 Barnes, L., ‘End of an Institution’, in Folk-Scolaro, F. (ed.), Brunswick Stories
and Histories, Brunswick Community History Group, Brunswick, 1999, p. 24.
474 Broome, p. 195.
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Figure 130 Boer War Memorial in front of the Brunswick Town Hall,
¢.1910. Postcard. Additions were subsequently made to the town hall and
the memorial shifted to Hooper Reserve at the southern entrance to the
municipality. Source: Moreland City Libraries and Picture Victoria.
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APPENDICES

1. Australian Heritage Commission’s Historic Themes

The AHC themes should be used as a guide only and in a discriminating manner

1.0 Tracing the evolution of a continent’s special environments

1.1
1.2
1.3
1.4

Tracing climatic and topographical change

Tracing the emergence of and development of Australian plants and animals

Assessing scientifically diverse environments

Appreciating the natural wonders of Australia

2.0 Peopling the continent

2.1
22

23
24
25
26

Living as Australia’s earliest inhabitants

Appreciating how Aboriginal people adapted themselves to diverse regions

before regular contact with other parts of the world
Coming to Australia as a punishment

Migrating

Promoting settlement

Fighting for the land: Resisting the advent of Europeans

3.0 Developing local, regional and national economies

3.1
3.2
3.3
3.4
3.5
3.6
3.7
3.8
3.9
3.10
3.1
3.12
3.13
3.14
3.15
3.16
3.17
3.18
3.19

Exploring the coastline

Constructing capital city economies

Surveying the continent and assessing its potential

Utilising natural resources

Developing primary production

Recruiting labour

Establishing communications

Moving goods and people

Farming for commercial profit

Integrating people into the cash economy

Altering the environment

Feeding people

Developing an Australian manufacturing capacity

Developing an Australian engineering and construction industry
Developing economic links outside Australia

Struggling with remoteness, hardship and failure

Inventing devices

Financing Australia: Raising capital, banking, lending, insuring

Marketing and retailing

APPENDICES
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3.20 Informing Australians through newspapers and broadcasting
3.21 Entertaining for profit

3.22 Lodging people

3.23 Catering for tourists

3.24 Selling companionship and sexual services

3.25 Adorning Australians

3.26 Providing health services and caring for people

4.0 Buildings, settlements, towns and cities

4.1 Planning urban settlements
4.2 Supplying urban services (power, transport, fire prevention, roads, water, lights
and sewerage)
4.3 Developing urban institutions
4.4 Living with slums, outcasts and homelessness
4.5 Making settlements and towns to serve rural Australia
4.6 Remembering significant phases in the development of towns, suburbs and
settlements
5.0 Working
5.1 Working in harsh or dangerous conditions
5.2 Organising workers and works places

5.3 Working in factories

5.4 Caring for workers’ dependent children

5.5 Working in offices

5.6 Trying to make crime pay

5.7 Working in the home

5.8 Surviving as Aboriginal people in a white-dominated economy
5.9 Working on the land

6.0 Educating

140

6.1 Forming associations, libraries and institutes for self-education

6.2 Establishing schools

6.3 Training people for the workplace

6.4 Building a system of higher education
6.5 Educating people in remote places
6.6 Educating people in two cultures



7.0 Governing
71
7.2
7.3
7.4
7.6
7.7
7.8
7.9

Governing Australia as a province of the British Empire

Developing institutions of self-government and democracy

Making City-States
Federating Australia

Governing Australia’s colonial possessions

Developing administrative structures and authorities

Defending Australia

Establishing regional and local identity

8.0 Developing cultural institutions and ways of life

8.1
8.2
8.3
8.4
8.5
8.6
8.7
8.8
8.9
8.10
11.11
8.12
8.13
8.14
8.15

Organising recreation

Going to the beach

Going on holiday

Eating and drinking

Forming associations

Worshipping

Honouring achievement

Remembering the fallen

Commemorating significant events and people
Pursuing excellence in the arts and sciences
Making Australian folklore

Living in and around Australian homes
Living in cities and suburbs

Living in the country and rural settlements

Being homeless

9.0 Marking the phases of life

9.1
9.2
9.3
9.4
9.5
9.6
9.7
9.8

Bringing babies into the world
Bringing up children

Growing up

Forming families and partnerships
Being an adult

Living outside a family/partnership
Growing old

Dying
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Background

Heritage Victoria commissioned the development of Victoria’s Framework of Historical Themes in February 2007.
The brief was to develop a framework that identifies and describes the themes that are significant and distinctive
to the natural and cultural heritage of the State. The selected themes were to correlate with the Australian Historic
Themes framework, and build upon comparable models developed by other State and Territory government
agencies.

The Framework is currently in a draft format, and subject to consideration by the Heritage Council of Victoria.

The Framework is to have practical applicability in several
key areas defined by the project brief, including:
+ significance assessments of heritage places and
objects/collections
* management of community heritage collections,
including conservation prioritisation
* interpretation and tourism planning
+ development of heritage area studies and
»  other uses identified in the course of the project by
the Contractor or steering committee.

Specifically, the thematic framework needs to fulfil the
relevant key direction set out in the Victorian Government’s
strategy, Victoria’s Heritage: Strengthening our
communities (July 2006):

Direction 1 Recognise the richness of Victoria’s cultural
and natural heritage

And the related strategy to achieve this direction:

1.1 Recognise and celebrate the diversity of Victoria’s
heritage and acknowledge the places and objects/
collections which are special to Victorians.

Using the Framework

Victoria’s Framework of Historical Themes is designed for use by heritage professionals, local government,
teachers, custodians of museum collections, interpreters and others interested in Victoria’s natural and cultural
heritage.

The framework recognises that thematic approaches are already in use by heritage professionals, for example,

in thematic environmental histories of local government areas. It provides a very broad and flexible framework at
the State level, so that these local studies can continue to evolve while being linked to State, and, where relevant,
national contexts.

The thematic framework provides a practical and comprehensive research tool which can be used at the State
or local level to assist in the identification, assessment, interpretation and management of heritage places and
objects/collections. In particular, it can help to encourage a comprehensive approach to listings and provide a

comparative context for the better understanding of the historical significance of places and objects/collections.
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What is a thematic framework?

A thematic framework can be used as a ‘how to’ tool for those interested in identifying, assessing and interpreting
historic values in places.

There are a number of benefits of using themes, including:

* helping to think more widely about historical processes in assessing places

* assisting in structuring research

* assisting in the preparation of interpretive texts

» justifying an assessment of historical significance so as to avoid criticism of ‘targeting’ certain places for
heritage controls

* when used with criteria for assessing heritage significance, helping to clarify the significance of a place
through providing its historical context and linkages (for example see Australian Historic Themes pp.6-7)

* showing how specific types of place are commonly associated with a theme to provide an ‘aide memoir’,
making sure these kinds of places are not missed in heritage area surveys and heritage assessments of
places and objects/collections.

Themes can also be used to ensure comprehensiveness in the representation of places in heritage registers; they
can be used in a similar way with museum collections.

Equally, they can be used as a sieve to select stories and associated places and objects/collections that are
significant and distinctive to a State or region.

Purpose of the framework

The purpose of the framework is to provide a consistent set of themes which highlight what is distinctive about
Victoria.

The consistent organising principle for the thematic framework is activity. By emphasizing the human activities that
produced the places and objects/collections we value, and the human response to Victoria’s environment, places
and objects/collections are related to the processes and stories associated with them.

The themes are not intended to follow a chronological order. Rather, they are generic, and designed to be applied
and interlinked, regardless of place or period. This is consistent with a number of frameworks that are generic

or universal, in that they describe the same aspects of human activity whatever the nation, State or region being
examined.

How the framework is structured

Victoria’s Framework of Historical Themes consists of nine main themes, with sub themes and prompts to help
evoke distinctive aspects and strong stories in Victoria’s history.

The themes are designed to easily link with the Australian Historic Themes, with some differences to better
accommodate Victoria’s particular historical patterns.
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What is distinctive about Victoria?

In developing the framework, the focus has been on identifying themes that help us to understand what is
distinctive and different about Victoria’s history and heritage. The nine themes that comprise the framework are
designed to highlight places and objects/collections that express important aspects of our historical development,
culture and identity. They cover broad historical processes and activities that link and overlap, creating a richly
diverse and multi-layered cultural inheritance of landscapes, places, objects/collections and their stories. Some
of these historical processes relate Victoria to a much bigger picture.

International context

As a former British colony, Victoria was part of the worldwide process of European colonial expansion in the
nineteenth century. This set the tone of early colonial life and explains many features of the early economy,
geared to the export of raw materials to Europe and other parts of the European empires. The transfer and
adaptation of European beliefs, ideals and institutions also created a distinctive culture in Victoria.

Gold and its legacy in all areas of life is an example of a story that has a worldwide, or international, context and
potential world heritage significance.

Of potential universal significance is the legacy of Aboriginal cultural landscapes and sites in Victoria, as evidence
of the oldest living culture in the world. Other aspects of Victoria’s heritage may also be of wider significance when
comparative studies are undertaken in the future.

National context

At a national level, Victoria’s growth and development are symbolic of the rapid expansion of the Australian
colonies in the second half of the nineteenth century, built on raw materials especially pastoral products, minerals
such as gold, and a growing range of local industries.

The State’s heritage provides an insight into its key phases of development from the long Aboriginal occupation
of the land to European exploration and settlement, becoming Port Phillip District, part of the colony of NSW, to
separation and naming for Queen Victoria. As the colonial capital, Melbourne became a grand Victorian-era city, a
thriving industrial and commercial metropolis, and the cultural and political focus of Victoria. It has evolved into a
sprawling metropolis of garden suburbs and industrial areas.

The State of Victoria has a rich and diverse natural and cultural heritage that illustrates the historical occupation,
use, adaptation and development of the land since the arrival of Aboriginal people. This in turn promotes a greater
understanding of the history of Australia as a whole.
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Themes and sub-themes
1. Shaping Victoria’s environment

The theme includes the evolution of the environment from a scientific point of view and Aboriginal people’s
traditions about how the land and its features were created. This theme also traces how our understanding and
appreciation of the environment has changed over time:

1.1 Tracing climate and topographical change

1.2 Tracing the emergence of Victoria’s plants and animals

1.3 Understanding scientifically diverse environments

1.4 Creation stories and defining country

1.5 Exploring, surveying and mapping

1.6 Living with natural processes

1.7 Appreciating and protecting Victoria’s natural wonders

2. Peopling Victoria’s places and landscapes

This theme examines the people who occupied Victoria over tens of thousands of years and the waves of
immigration since European settlement:

2.1 Living as Victoria’s original inhabitants

2.2 Adapting to diverse environments

2.3 Arriving in a new land

2.4 Migrating and making a home

2.5 Maintaining distinctive cultures

2.6 Promoting settlement

2.7 Fighting for identity

3. Connecting Victorians by transport and communications

This theme traces how early pathways often followed Aboriginal lines of travel and were later formalised as road
and rail networks:

3.1 Establishing pathways

3.2 Travelling by water

3.3 Linking Victorians by rail

3.4 Linking Victorians by road in the twentieth century

3.5 Travelling by tram

3.6 Linking Victorians by air

3.7 Establishing and maintaining communications

4. Transforming the land

This theme explores how occupation and use of the land, and exploitation of its natural resources, have
transformed Victoria and shaped its diverse cultural landscapes:

4.1 Living off the land

4.2 Living from the sea

4.3 Grazing and raising livestock

4.4 Farming

4.5 Gold mining

4.6 Exploiting other mineral, forest and water resources

4.7 Transforming the land and waterways
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5. Building Victoria’s industries and workforce

This theme explores how secondary and tertiary industries were developed in Victoria and examines the
experiences of those who have worked in them:

5.1 Processing raw materials

5.2 Developing a manufacturing capacity

5.3 Marketing and retailing

5.4 Exhibiting Victoria’s innovation and products
5.5 Banking and finance

5.6 Entertaining and socialising

5.7 Working

6. Building towns, cities and the garden state

This theme focuses on the development of Victoria’s cities, towns and suburbs, including the application of
innovative planning ideas which contributed to Victoria’s identity as the ‘garden state’:

6.1 Establishing Melbourne Town, Port Phillip District

6.2 Creating Melbourne

6.3 Shaping the suburbs

6.4 Making regional centres

6.5 Living in country towns

6.6 Marking significant phases in development of Victoria’s settlements, towns and cities
6.7 Making homes for Victorians

6.8 Living on the fringes

7. Governing Victorians

This theme focuses on the role of the State and its institutions in shaping the life of its citizens in all facets of life:

7.1 Developing institutions of self-government and democracy
7.2 Struggling for political rights

7.3 Maintaining law and order

7.4 Defending Victoria and Australia

7.5 Protecting Victoria’s heritage

8. Building community life

This theme covers the ways Victorians have built community life and institutions in a variety of forms and
expressions:

8.1 Maintaining spiritual life

8.2 Educating people

8.3 Providing health and welfare services

8.4 Forming community organisations

8.5 Preserving traditions and commemorating
8.6 Marking the phases of life

9. Shaping cultural and creative life
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This theme displays Victoria’s cultural life in its many facets:

9.1 Participating in sport and recreation

9.2 Nurturing a vibrant arts scene

9.3 Achieving distinction in the arts

9.4 Creating popular culture

9.5 Advancing knowledge in science and technology
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Linking State, National and Local themes

Victoria’s Framework of Historical Themes reflects the theme groups set out in the Australian Historic Themes
Framework, but are grouped slightly differently.

The Australian theme ‘Developing Local, Regional and National Economies’ is split three ways, between the
themes 3. Connecting Victorians by transport and communications, 4. Transforming the land and 5 Building
Victoria’s industries and workforce. Although these themes are strongly linked and interdependent, they do stand
out separately as significant aspects of Victoria’s history.

The Australian theme ‘Working’ will be divided between the three themes, enabling links to be made more readily
between particular industries and Victoria’s social development.

The theme ‘Educating’ forms part of theme 8. Building community life, because of the links that exist between
communities and their schools. The Australian theme group ‘Marking the Phases of Life’ has been included in
theme 8. Building community life.

Australian Historic Theme Victoria Theme

1. Tracing the evolution of the Australian Environment 1. Shaping Victoria’s environment
2. Peopling Australia 2. Peopling Victoria’s places and landscapes
3. Developing local, regional & national economies 3. Connecting Victorians by transport and communication

4. Transforming the land

5. Building Victoria’s industries and workforce

[77]
o
4. Building settlements, towns & cities 6. Building towns, cities and the garden state £
£
5. Working Coveredin 3,4, 5 |
S
6. Educating 8. Building community life
7. Governing 7. Governing Victorians
8. Developing Australia’s cultural life 9. Shaping cultural and creative life
9. Marking the phases of life Included in 8. Building community life.
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